



OBSTETRICS AND GYNAECOLOGY CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINE

Discomforts in Pregnancy - Common

Scope (Staff): Obstetrics and Midwifery

Scope (Area): Obstetrics and Gynaecology

This document should be read in conjunction with the **Disclaimer**.

Contents Page

Aim	2
Gastro-Oesophageal Reflux/Heartburn	2
Management - Clinical History	2
Management – Positioning	3
Management – Non-Pharmacological Interventions Haemorrhoids	
Conservative Management	
Surgical ManagementNausea and Vomiting	
Management – Medical History	
Management - Clinical Assessment	6 7
Vaginal Discharge	
ManagementPelvic Girdle and Low Back Pain	
ManagementCarpal Tunnel Syndrome	
ManagementLeg Cramps	
Management	
Magnesium supplement dosage	10 10

Aim

To provide information on the management of a range of minor symptoms and disorders experienced in pregnancy.

Gastro-Oesophageal Reflux/Heartburn

Heartburn is common in pregnancy (incidence is 17-80%), and can occur in all trimesters, with increasing severity in later pregnancy. There is increased likelihood of heartburn if the woman is multiparous, if there was heartburn prior to pregnancy and with increased gestational age. Elevated levels of progesterone cause the lower oesophageal sphincter to become more relaxed allowing gastric reflux. In paired gut motility and gastric emptying, and increased abdominal pressure from the gravid uterus may contribute to heartburn in pregnancy. However, gastric emptying in healthy pregnant women has been shown to be comparable to that of non-pregnant women. Heartburn / reflux can lead to a burning or painful sensation in the upper part of the digestive tract and the throat.

Management -Clinical History

- Diagnosis is based on clinical history.¹ Obtain a current history of symptoms and any previous history of reflux-type symptoms.⁴
- Symptoms of heartburn can be similar to epigastric pain associated with preeclampsia.⁵ Exclude diagnosis of pre-eclamptic toxaemia (PET) – check blood pressure and perform urinalysis,⁶ fetal growth, check for PET symptoms (>20 weeks gestation) and screening bloods if indicated.⁵

Management - Dietary and Other Modifications

- Eat small frequent meals^{2, 3}
- Avoid eating and drinking at the same time to reduce stomach volume²
- Avoid gastric irritants (foods and medications causing reflux)³ e.g. chocolate, coffee, citrus juices,² tomato products⁵, alcohol³, fizzy drinks,⁴ greasy/ spicy/ acidic foods⁵
- Avoid eating late at night³ or within 3 hours of going to bed⁴
- Chewing gum³ stimulates the salivary glands and may neutralise acid
- Cease smoking^{3, 4}

Management – Positioning

- Elevate the head of the bed³ by 10-15cm.⁴
- Lying on the left side has been shown cause less frequent reflux^{3, 4}
- Encourage an upright position where possible, avoiding lying down after meals³

Management – Pharmacological Interventions

Pharmacological interventions may be initiated if adjustments to life-style changes provide a poor response.⁵

Antacids:

- Simple antacids are used intermittently³ however limited data is available on their use in pregnancy.^{1,4} Use an antacid that is safe in pregnancy.⁵ Most calcium and magnesium-based antacids are considered safe at usual doses in pregnancy.⁷ Liquid antacids are more effective than solid antacids.⁷
- Avoid taking the antacid near the time of consuming supplemental iron (gastric acid facilitates the absorption of iron). Take antacids at least 1 hour apart from iron and other medications.⁵
- Limit antacids containing calcium to 1g per day of elemental calcium⁷ to prevent risk for hypercalcaemia, metabolic acidosis and renal insufficiency.
- Avoid antacids containing sodium in chronic renal failure as they may cause fluid retention/ overload.⁷
- Antacids containing magnesium trisilicates should not be used in high doses or long term in pregnancy.⁴
- High dose aluminium containing antacids are not commonly recommended in pregnancy due to side effects such as constipation.⁵
- Consider histamine H2-receptor antagonists, e.g. famotidine, where appropriate
- Intermittent use of metoclopramide is safe in pregnancy.3
- For severe symptoms, Omeprazole (preg. cat. B3) can be prescribed after medical review.³

Varicose Veins and Leg Oedema

Varicosities may develop in up to 40% of pregnant women.³ The increase in blood volume during pregnancy and effect of progesterone relaxing the muscular walls of the veins causes increased pressure on the veins.⁶ Varicose veins often improve three to four months following birth, and oedema generally reduces soon after birth.⁸ Evidence regarding successful interventions for varicose veins and leg oedema in pregnancy is lacking, however despite lack of adequate research, support measures such as use of compression stockings and elevation of the legs may provide comfort to women. Based on two small studies, reflexology or water immersion appears to improve symptoms for women with leg oedema.⁸

Management – Non-Pharmacological Interventions

• Elevate the legs when at rest^{3, 6, 8}

- Water immersion or compresses may alleviate symptoms^{6, 8, 9} or spraying legs with hot and cold water³
- Reflexology may provide relief^{6, 8}
- Avoid prolonged standing or immobility- take breaks to exercise or elevate the legs,⁸ and avoid wearing of high heels⁹
- Avoid tight or restrictive clothing⁹
- Regular exercise improves calf muscle pump. Encourage ankle flexion exercise⁸ for at least 30 minutes per day.⁹
- Compression stockings³ may relieve swelling and aching of legs and prevent development of more varicose veins. Remove at night.⁸
- If resting for long periods women are advised to lie on their left side which
 decreases pressure on the veins in the legs and feet (the inferior vena cava is
 on the right side, and left-sided position relieves it of the weight of the uterus)⁸
- Encourage use of compression stockings for plane travel or long vehicle journeys.
- Note: Varicose veins are a risk factor for venous thromboembolism, and in combination with other VTE risk factors (e.g. long distance travel) may require VTE prophylaxis.¹⁰ Discuss with medical team as required.

Whilst pharmacological treatment with rutosides may help varicose vein symptoms in late pregnancy, they are not yet shown to be safe for use in pregnancy.⁸

Haemorrhoids

Haemorrhoids occur in up to 85% of women in late pregnancy and for many will resolve soon after birth.³ The aetiology of haemorrhoids is similar to varicose veins, with veins becoming distended as the walls stretch, from increased blood volume, gravid uterus, and reduced venous return, resulting in haemorrhoids.³ Progesterone and the gravid uterus also decrease intestinal motility, further affecting haemorrhoid formation.³

Conservative Management

- Prevent / treat constipation³ high fibre diet, increased fluid intake,⁵ exercise²,
 Aim for a soft, formed stool (Type 4 on the Bristol Stool chart). See <u>Clinical Guideline</u>, <u>Bowel Care</u>
- Stool softeners; avoid straining during defecation,⁵ and encourage defecating with a strong urge in the morning and after meals when colonic activity is highest.¹¹
- Mild analgesia.
- Saline or witch hazel compresses may be beneficial for pruritis and discomfort.⁵
- Topical local anaesthetic, anti-inflammatory, emollient³ and/or corticosteroid agents may be beneficial¹¹ e.g. Rectinol®, Proctosedyl® ointments. However,

creams containing topical anaesthetic may induce sensitisation,¹¹ and topical corticosteroids may exacerbate local infection and cause skin irritation so use should be limited for < 7 days.⁷

Note: Topical products containing fluocortolones are contraindicated in pregnancy/lactation.⁵ Additionally, topical corticosteroid-containing products should be avoided in the first trimester and avoid prolonged use in pregnancy/lactation.⁵

 Warmed baths may be used to decrease sphincter tone or improve venous congestion.¹¹

Surgical Management

Occasionally, surgery is required.³ Closed excision haemorrhoidectomy for symptomatic haemorrhoids using local anaesthetic can be safely performed during pregnancy.¹¹

Nausea and Vomiting

Approximately 50% of women experience nausea and vomiting in early pregnancy, and another 25% feel nausea alone. While in about 35% of these women the nausea and vomiting becomes clinically significant, only a small minority (0.3 - 1%) are diagnosed with hyperemesis.gravidarum. This is characterised by persistent vomiting, weight loss of more than 5%, ketonuria, electrolyte imbalances, and dehydration. Nausea in pregnancy typically peaks at approximately 9 weeks gestation, with 60% of cases resolving by the end of the first trimester, and in the remaining women 91% of these cases will resolve by 20 weeks gestation. Nausea and vomiting correlates closely to levels of human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) levels in the majority of studies. A Cochrane review found high quality evidence is lacking about provision of good supportive treatments and advice for women experiencing nausea and vomiting. Although often referred to as 'morning sickness', only 11-18% report nausea and vomiting only in the morning.

Note: Women attending a low risk midwives clinic for antenatal care, and who present with signs of hyperemesis gravidarum should be referred for medical review.

Management – Medical History

- Perform a medical history including the pattern of nausea and vomiting, fluid and dietary intake, factors exacerbating the condition, and current management.¹⁵
- Note signs of fever, headaches, abdominal pain or other symptoms that are not characteristic with uncomplicated nausea and vomiting in pregnancy.¹²
- Exclude other medical conditions causing nausea and vomiting e.g. gastrointestinal, renal or endocrine¹⁵

Management - Clinical Assessment

- Perform urinalysis including assessment of ketones, pH, and signs of urine infection such as nitrates, blood and protein.
- Maternal assessment for signs of dehydration.
- Perform a blood pressure.
- Perform temperature, pulse, and respirations if the medical history indicates risk for infection.
- If a women presents with a history of nausea and vomiting which is more than normally expected in pregnancy, perform a baseline weight (if not available).
 Perform a weekly weight until the nausea and vomiting resolves.¹⁶
- Consider performing full blood picture, urea and electrolytes, liver function tests, and thyroid function tests if clinical picture merits further investigation.¹⁷

Management - Non-Pharmacological Interventions

- Educate women:
 - Reassure: That early pregnancy nausea/vomiting is common, not refined to mornings, usually resolves spontaneously by 16-20 weeks and is not generally associated with poor pregnancy outcomes.¹⁴
 - To reduce potential oral health effects: Advise women to wait >1hour after vomiting before brushing teeth or rinse mouth with a solution of bicarbonate of soda; use fluoridated mouthwash / toothpaste; eat small amounts of nutritious protein rich snacks and avoid sweets/ carbonated soft drinks; and to chew sugar-free gum after meals/ sugary/ acidic drinks.¹⁴
- Small, frequent meals and snacks^{2, 14, 16, 18, 19}
- Bland², low fat¹⁹, low carbohydrate, high protein diet^{14, 18}
- Take more liquids than solids in the diet¹⁹
- Encourage fluids¹⁴ to prevent dehydration² a least 2 litre/day²⁰
- Avoid an empty stomach^{16, 20}; prevent a full stomach e.g. mixing solids with liquid²⁰
- Avoid rich, spicy or fatty foods (including smelling and cooking)^{2, 14, 20}
- Eating dry crackers before rising in the morning
- Ice chips² or icy poles may be beneficial
- Consume a high-protein snack prior to going to bed¹⁶
- Ginger (Zingiber officinale) extract may provide benefit for management of nausea and vomiting in some randomised studies^{2, 12, 14, 19}, however a Cochrane review found the results were inconsistent and limited.¹³
 Recommended dose: up to 250mg every 6 hours^{12, 14} (in 24 hours the dosage should not exceed 1 gm^{7, 16}). Concomitant use of anticoagulants and ginger is not advised due to the theoretical risk of inhibiting platelet function.¹⁹
- P₆ acupressure may possibly provide some relief for some women^{2, 17-19}
 although the effectiveness of acupressure and acustimulation of P₆ point has
 inconsistent and limited support. Acupuncture has no significant benefit.^{13, 14}

- Getting plenty of rest¹⁴
- Travel sickness bands¹⁴
- Provide the woman with the <u>WNHS brochure 'Morning Sickness'</u>.
- If relevant, see Clinical Guidelines: Pregnancy Care: First Trimester Complications

Management – Pharmacological Treatment

Pharmacological treatment may be required if non-pharmacological methods are unsuccessful.

- Pyridoxine (vitamin B6) has been shown in limited randomised studies to reduce symptoms of nausea and vomiting, ^{12, 13, 21} however there are concerns for toxicity at high doses. ¹⁴
 Dosage: 25-50 mg up to three times daily ⁷ If a woman is taking a
 - Dosage: 25- 50 mg up to three times daily. If a woman is taking a multivitamin containing vitamin B6 then the dosage is adjusted accordingly. Doxylamine dosage recommended: 12.5mg each morning, 12.5mg in the afternoon, and 25mg at night 12
- If the above treatment is ineffective, use of Phenothiazines (e.g. promethazine and prochlorperazine), may be initiated. Metoclopramide or ondansetron may also be initiated. These treatments (and intravenous hydration) are used if symptoms are prolonged and intractable i.e. for hyperemesis gravidarum. Phenothiazines have been shown to reduce nausea and vomiting compared to placebo, and the majority of evidence suggests no association with birth defects. In early pregnancy, certainty of safety and efficacy is not possible, and prescribed treatment is usually not indicated unless severe debilitating symptoms.
- Iron therapy may need to be temporarily stopped until nausea settles.^{14, 17} If iron containing multivitamins are discontinued, ensure adequate folate and iodine intake.¹⁴

Vaginal Discharge

High levels of oestrogen in pregnancy result in increased thick, white vaginal discharge (leucorrhoea)³ from marked shedding of superficial mucosal cells in the vagina. With the higher levels of oestrogen, the normal bacteria (*lactobacillus acidophilus*) in the vagina increase activity, lactic acid by-products, and vaginal acidity, which provides some protection against pathogens,³ but increases risk for *Candida albicans* and *Trichomonas vaginalis*.²²

Management

- Women should be advised of normal physiological vaginal discharge changes in pregnancy, and instructed to inform health professionals of any abnormalities.
- Obtain vaginal and/or cervical swabs for laboratory testing as required.⁵ If vaginal thrush present on swabs, topical vaginal imidazole medications (e.g. clotrimazole) can be used.⁵

Note: Oral <u>fluconazole medications</u> are not recommended in pregnancy.⁵

- See also Clinical Guidelines:
 - Obstetrics and Gynaecology: Infections (vaginal): Candidiasis, trichomoniasis, bacterial vaginosis
 - Obstetrics and Gynaecology: Sexually Transmitted Infections (STI): Vaginal Discharges.

Pelvic Girdle and Low Back Pain

Many women (45-50%) experience pregnancy-related low back (PLBP) or pelvic girdle pain (PGP), with more than 80% of these women experiencing difficulties with daily living, and up to 30% requiring bed rest and leading to absence from work.²³ PGP refers to pain in the symphysis pubis and/or pain in the region of one or both of the sacroiliac joints, and pain in the gluteal region.²⁴ Pain is often aggravated during standing, walking, sitting²³, twisting, climbing of stairs, and turning while in bed²³. The pain with PGP is intermittent, there is no restriction of lumbar spine or hip movement, and it is often described as a stabbing, burning, dull, or shooting pain.²⁴ PLBP however, is characterised by lumber region pain, is dull, and women experience it during forward flexion.

Management

- Refer women for physiotherapy consultation.²⁵ At KEMH, a walk-in (no appointment required) clinic is available Monday to Friday 11am 12pm for women booked to birth at KEMH who have a Medicare card. Further appointments (if required) will need to be booked in advance.
- Reassure women that most PGP resolves in a few weeks or within the month following delivery, however in 8-10% of women pain can be experienced for 1-2 years.²⁴ Extra support and postnatal physiotherapy may be required.³
- Conduct a medical history and physical examination to exclude other pain causes e.g. trauma, fevers, neurological symptoms, inflammatory signs or tenderness.²⁴
- In labour- be sensitive of analgesia requirements, beneficial positioning (e.g. upright, kneeling) and of reducing hip abduction, during vaginal examinations and if lithotomy required, to avoid further compounding pain.³
- Education and management for women with PGP or PLBP includes:
 - o avoidance of fatigue and have frequent periods of rest^{3, 24}
 - o avoiding situations that aggravate the condition³ e.g. unrelenting postures, twisting while lifting, activities such as unequal weight bearing, bouncing, hip abduction,^{3, 24} high-heel shoes²⁶
 - using pillows to support the abdomen while lying in the lateral position, and to support the lower back when sitting, and placement of a lumbar roll behind the back with the feet slightly elevated.²⁴

- use of massage and local applications of heat3 and cold may provide relief²⁴
- hydrotherapy may be useful in decreasing back pain,²⁴ and water aerobics³
- a supportive pregnancy belt may be beneficial,³ or if required, using aids such as crutches³, walking frames and wheelchairs to assist mobility.²⁴
- exercising before and during pregnancy strengthens abdominal, back and pelvic muscles, assisting good posture and weight-bearing activities.³

Carpal Tunnel Syndrome

Carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS) in pregnancy usually presents in the second or third trimester and is caused by excess fluid compressing the median nerve in the wrist. This causes paraesthesias, swelling and pain in the hand(s), and impairs sensory and motor function of the hand.⁶ Symptoms often are worst at night, and can be exacerbated by forceful activity and extreme wrist positions. In pregnancy hormonal changes, oedema, and generalised slowing down of nerve conduction (if a woman has gestational diabetes) have been linked to causing CTS.²⁷ Women who have preeclampsia, hypertension, excessive weight gain, and have oedema in pregnancy are at more risk for developing CTS. See also patient brochure Pregnancy, Birth and Your Baby

Management

- Early treatment involves activity modification including:
 - o avoiding positions of extreme flexion or extension²⁷
 - avoiding prolonged exposure to vibration (e.g. driving, lawn mowing, use of power tools)²⁷ and repetitive actions or aggravating activities (e.g. typing)²⁸
- Arrange physiotherapy referral if symptoms require further management.
 - wrist splinting may be initiated a neutral position maximises carpel tunnel volume and decreases pressure on the median nerve. Splints are normally worn at night, however some women may find they need to wear them during the day as well.²⁸
- Corticosteroid injections give temporary relief in 80% of patients. However, if the patient has diabetes it can cause transient serum glucose elevation for up to 5 days
- Inform women carpel tunnel symptoms normally resolve within 2 weeks of birth.²⁹
- Surgical options are generally not recommended during pregnancy.²⁹

Leg Cramps

Leg cramps and restless leg syndrome can occur at any time, but usually occur at night and may effect up to 30% -50% of pregnant women, especially in the third trimester.³⁰ In the majority of these women, cramps occur twice per week.³⁰ The cause of leg cramps in pregnancy remains unclear, although suggested reasons include metabolic disorders, inactivity or excessive activity, imbalances of electrolytes, vitamin deficiency or hyperactive lower motor neurons.³⁰ A Cochrane review found that there is currently no evidence on alternative therapies (massage, stretching, relaxation or heat), and insufficient evidence to determine whether any oral interventions (calcium, magnesium, vitamin B or C) are effective for leg cramps in pregnancy.³⁰ For some women, calcium3, magnesium or vitamin B supplementation may be effective, but results are limited to small studies and are inconsistent.³⁰

Management

- Perform a health history to exclude other causes of leg cramps such as:
 - o electrolyte imbalances, dehydration, inactivity or excessive exercise³¹
 - musculoskeletal problems e.g. prolonged sitting, back injuries, strenuous exercise of lower limbs, flat feet³¹
 - o endocrine conditions e.g. thyroid disease, diabetes³¹
 - o renal damage leading to muscle cramping and weakness³¹
 - cardiovascular conditions e.g. history of deep vein thrombosis causing venous insufficiency³¹
 - neurological conditions e.g. multiple sclerosis, Huntington disease³¹
- Strategies for prevention or relief of cramps include:
 - o during leg cramps massage³, walking, and stretching may help⁶
 - o a warm bath prior to bedtime³²
 - a balanced diet, calcium gluconate supplements,³ drinking adequate fluids³²
 - prophylactic night-time calf stretching³¹

Magnesium supplement dosage

Available medication at KEMH is in the form of MagMin® 500mg (magnesium aspartate) tablets which contain equivalent magnesium of 37.4mg (1.55 mmol magnesium).⁷

If required, higher dose Biomagnesium® (total equivalent magnesium is 300mg; 12.3mmol magnesium) is available. Max one tablet daily.

Sleep Disturbance

A result of some of the above disorders (e.g. leg cramps, pelvic/back pain, reflux), anxiety, nocturia, and fetal activity is that sleep can be disturbed in pregnancy. Insomnia can be associated with hormonal and mechanical changes in pregnancy. Up to 90% of pregnant women report disturbed sleep. For some women, severe

sleep disturbance and sleeping <6 hours per night, has been associated with an increased risk of longer labours, caesarean birth (4.5-5.2 times more likely)³⁰ and postnatal depression.³ However, sleep medications should be avoided.³ Interventions to reduce disruption include³:

- forming sleep/wake habits and modifying sleep environment
- avoiding caffeine and passive smoking
- relaxation techniques, massage, heat and support for lower back pain
- limiting fluids in the evening.

References and resources

- 1. Phupong V, Hanprasertpong T. Interventions for heartburn in pregnancy (Review). Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2015(9). Available from:
- http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD011379.pub2/pdf
- 2. Gibbons M, Wratten J. Nutrition and physical activity foundations for pregnancy, childbirth and lactation. In: Pairman S, Pincombe J, Thorogood C, Tracy S, editors. Midwifery: Preparation for practice. 3rd ed. Sydney, NSW: Elsevier Australia; 2015. p. 501-22.
- 3. Murray I, Hassall J. Change and adaptation in pregnancy. In: Marshall J, Raynor M, editors. Myles textbook for midwives. 16th ed. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone Elsevier; 2014. p. 143-77.
- 4. Affendi Raja Ali R, Egan LJ. Gastroesophageal reflux in pregnancy. Best Practice & Research Clinical Gastroenterology. 2007;21(5):793-806.
- 5. Hunter M, Gunn J. Pharmacology and prescribing. In: Pairman S, Pincombe J, Thorogood C, Tracy S, editors. Midwifery: Preparation for practice. 3rd ed. Sydney, NSW: Elsevier Australia; 2015. p. 858-90.
- 6. Bharj KK, Henshaw AM. Confirming pregnancy and care of the pregnant woman. In: Mcdonald S, Magill-Cuerden J, editors. Mayes' midwifery. 14th ed. Sydney: Bailliere Tindall; 2011. p. 411-59.
- 7. AMH. Australian medicines handbook. 16th ed. Adelaide, SA: AMH; 2015.
- 8. Smyth RM, Aflaifel N, Bamigboye AA. Interventions for varicose veins and leg oedema in pregnancy (Review). Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2015(10). Available from: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD001066.pub3/pdf
- 9. Car S. Current management of varicose veins. Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2006;49(2):414-26. 10. Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. Green-top guideline No. 37a: Reducing the risk of venous thromboembolism during pregnancy and the puerperium. RCOG. 2015. Available from: https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/guidelines/gtg-37a.pdf
- 11. Avsar AF, Keskin HL. Haemorrhoids during pregnancy. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology. 2010;30(3):231-7.
- 12. Niebyl JR. Nausea and vomiting in pregnancy. The New England Journal of Medicine. 2010;363(16):1544-50.
- 13. Matthews A, Haas DM, O'Mathúna DP, Dowswell T. Interventions for nausea and vomiting in early pregnancy (Review). Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2015(9). Available from: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD007575.pub4/pdf
- 14. Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Council. Clinical practice guidelines: Antenatal care-Module 1. Canberra: Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing; 2012. Available from: http://www.health.gov.au/antenatal.
- 15. Ballard S. Midwifery Basics: Blood tests for investigating maternal wellbeing. When nausea and vomiting in pregnancy becomes pathological: Hyperemesis gravidarum. The practising midwife. 2011;14(1):37-41.
- 16. King TL, Murphy PA. Evidence-based approaches to managing nausea and vomiting in early pregnancy. J Midwifery Womens Health. 2009;54(6):430-44.
- 17. Bottomley C, Bourne T. Management strategies for hyperemesis. Best Practice & research Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology. 2009;23:549-64.
- 18. Jarvis S, Nelson-Piercy C. Management of nausea and vomiting in pregnancy. BMJ. 2011;June 17: 342:d3606/bmj.d3606:1-8.
- 19. Lee NM, Saha S. Nausea and vomiting of pregnancy. Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 2011;40:309-34.
- 20. Ebrahimi N, Maltepe c, Einarson A. Optimal management of nausea and vomiting of pregnancy. Int J Womens Health. 2010;2:241-48.
- 21. Koren G, Clark S, Hankins GDV, et al. Effectiveness of delayed-released doxylamine and pyridoxine for nausea and vomiting of pregnancy: A randomized placebo controlled trial. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology.2010;203(6):571.e1-7.
- 22. Baddock S. The physiology of conception and pregnancy. In: Pairman S, Pincombe J, Thorogood C, Tracy S, editors. Midwifery: Preparation for practice. 3rd ed. Sydney, NSW: Elsevier Australia; 2015. p. 461-500. 23. Han IH. Pregnancy and spinal problems. Current Opinion in Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2010;22:477-81.

References and resources

- 24. Verman E, Mittal R, Weeks A. Pelvic girdle pain and low back pain in pregnancy: A review. Pain Practice. 2010;10(1):60-71
- 25. Crafter H, J B. Common problems associated with early and advanced pregnancy. In: Marshall J, Raynor M, editors. Myles textbook for midwives. 16th ed. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone Elsevier; 2014. p. 221-42. 26. Murray I, Hassall J. Change and adaptation in pregnancy. In: Fraser DM, Cooper MA, editors. Myles
- textbook for midwives. Nottingham: Churchill Livingstone; 2009. p. 189-225.
- 27. Ablove RH, Ablove TS. Prevalence of carpal tunnel syndrome in pregnant women. Wis Med J. 2009;108(4):194-96.
- 28. Draper L. Pregnant women in the workplace: Distinguishing between normal and abnormal physiological changes. AAOHN Journal. 2006;54(5):217-23.
- 29. O'Donnell MJ, Elio R, Day D. Carpal tunnel syndrome: Coping during pregnancy and breastfeeding. AWHONN. 2010;14(4):318-21.
- 30. Zhou K, West HM, Zhang J, Xu L, Li W. Interventions for leg cramps in pregnancy (Review). Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2015(8). Available from:

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD010655.pub2/pdf

- 31. Hensley JG. Leg cramps and restless legs syndrome during pregnancy. J Midwifery Womens Health. 2009;54(3):211-18.
- 32. Lee J, Thomas R. Special exercises for pregnancy and the puerperium. In: Fraser DM, Cooper MA, editors. Myles textbook For midwives. 15th ed. Sydney: Churchill Livingstone; 2009. p. 243-62.

Related WNHS procedures and guidelines

Obstetrics and Gynaecology Clinical Practice Guideline: Bowel Care

Obstetrics and Gynaecology Clinical Practice Guideline: Pregnancy Care: First Trimester Complications

Obstetrics and Gynaecology Clinical Practice Guideline: Infections (vaginal): Candidiasis, trichomoniasis, bacterial vaginosis

Obstetrics and Gynaecology Clinical Practice Guideline: Sexually Transmitted Infections (STI): Vaginal Discharges

Useful resources (including related forms)

WNHS Consumer Information Brochure 'Morning Sickness'

WNHS Consumer Information Brochure Pregnancy, Birth and Your Baby

Keywords	minor discomforts in pregnancy, reflux in pregnancy, heartburn in pregnancy, varicose veins in pregnancy, leg oedema, haemorrhoids, pregnancy nausea, vaginal discharge in pregnancy, pelvic pain in pregnancy, low back pain in pregnancy, carpel tunnel syndrome in pregnancy, leg cramps in pregnancy				
Document Owner:	Co-Directors, Obstetrics and Gynaecology				
Author/ Reviewer	Co-Directors, Obstetrics and Gynaecology				
Date First Issued:	March 2001	Last Reviewed:	August 2024	Review Date:	August 2025
Endorsed by:	Midwifery and Obstetrics Clinical Practice and Outcomes Committee Date: August 2024				
NSQHS Standards Applicable:	Std 1: Clinical Governance				
Printed or personally saved electronic copies of this document are considered uncontrolled					

Version History

Version Number	Date	Summary
1.0	March 2001	First version
	November 2015	Revised version
	August 2023	Removed Ranitidine – no longer available
	August 2024	Clinical decision by Executive to extend review date by 12 months to August 2025

The health impact upon Aboriginal people has been considered, and where relevant incorporated and appropriately addressed in the development of this policy.

This document can be made available in alternative formats on request for a person with a disability. © Women and Newborn Health Service 2024

Copyright of this material is vested in the State of Western Australia unless otherwise indicated. Apart from any fair dealing for the purposes of private study, research, criticism or review, as permitted under the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968, no part may be reproduced or re-used for any purposes whatsoever without written permission of the State of Western Australia.